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Programmed Maintenance Services Limited, founded in
1951, is now Australia’s leading property maintenance
group with a growing range of services and expanding
New Zealand and United Kingdom businesses. More
than 5,500 commercial, industrial, government and
institutional property owners appreciate the benefits of
our unique long-term maintenance programmes. 

The company operates:

• The largest contract painting businesses in Australia and 
New Zealand

• A rapidly growing contract painting business in the 
United Kingdom

• One of Australia’s largest grounds maintenance businesses

• An integrated building services business that manages and
maintains a diverse range of property assets in Australia and, 
more recently, in New Zealand

• An industrial services business, which provides an expanding 
range of services to maintain industrial and underground
infrastructure in Australia

Consistent growth

Revenue by business
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A$206 million
INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 13%

GROUNDS 4%

BUILDING SERVICES 1%

NEW ZEALAND 15% 

AUSTRALIAN PAINTING 67%

UNITED KINGDOM 9%

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES 9%

GROUNDS 6%

BUILDING SERVICES 14%

NEW ZEALAND 14% 

AUSTRALIAN PAINTING 48%

1998-99 revenue

A$85 million



Chairman’s Report  
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Consistent growth: that remains our primary goal. 

In 2003-04 the company again met that goal with its sixth
successive year of double-digit growth in revenue and net
profit. Importantly, we also took initiatives that will generate
significant future growth. We have confidence that
Programmed Maintenance Services can achieve further
double-digit growth in revenue and profit in the 2004-05 year.

The company increased after-tax profit by 17.1 per cent to 
a record $16.3 million in the year to 31 March 2004, excluding
a one-off gain of $400,000 the previous year that resulted
from a change in accounting policy for valuing work in
progress. On this comparable basis, earnings per share rose
from 21.2 cents to 23.9 cents.

Directors have declared an increased final dividend, up from 5
cents to 6.5 cents a share and franked to 50 per cent (payable
on 23 July 2004), which lifts total dividend payments for the
year to 12 cents franked to 50 per cent, up from 9 cents
franked to 41 per cent in the prior year. The dividend
reinvestment plan will continue with no discount, allowing
shareholders to take up shares at market price.

As detailed later in this report, our Australian business
performed well, helped by significant increases in earnings
from our Building Services, Grounds Management and
Industrial Services businesses. New Zealand had another
strong year and the United Kingdom business continued to
build demand for its long-term maintenance programmes.

The consistency of the company’s growth reflects the success
of our strategy to build an international, integrated property
services group by diversifying from painting into other
property maintenance services, and expanding geographically.
Our strategic progression is illustrated on the timeline over the
page. During the past five years, while our Australian painting
business has continued to grow and group revenue has more
than doubled, revenue from our other businesses has
increased from 33 per cent to 52 per cent of the total group
revenue.

This diversification will accelerate with the acquisition of
Serco’s Australian integrated services contracts, which are
subject to customer assignment. These will further broaden
our range of property-related services, and are expected to
provide annual revenue of between $20 and $25 million. 
After acquisition and integration costs, the new business will
make a minimal contribution to earnings in 2004-05 and a
positive contribution from the following year. 

As well as maintaining growth, our strategy of adding to our
services has helped to improve cash flow and dividend
franking. I am pleased to report that net operating cash flow
improved by 23 per cent to $16 million, reflecting the

changing mix in group revenues. We directed this
predominantly towards increased dividend payments, growth
in recoverables and debt reduction. Net debt fell by $5.2
million to $41.7 million (41 per cent of equity), compared with
$46.9 million (54 per cent of equity) at 31 March 2003. 

Total shareholders’ equity rose by 17 per cent to $102.6
million from $87.7 million a year earlier, due to the solid
operating results, equity contributions from the dividend
reinvestment plan and the exercising of share options. 
Net tangible assets per share at 31 March 2004 were $1.41,
compared with $1.27 previously.

The company is performing well on other fronts. A proactive
approach to safety and training helped achieve a significant
reduction in long-term injuries. Continued investment in
systems and technology has put the standard of our services
further ahead of that offered by our competitors. These
improvements are detailed in the Review of Operations.

Shareholders should be pleased with the general re-rating of
the company’s shares that has occurred in the past year as
the market has realised the significance of our business
model. The company’s share price rose to $3.25 at the end of
May 2004 from $2.17 a year earlier, and increased further after
the market digested the significance of the latest year’s result.
Our price:earnings ratio also improved over that period; to
13.6 from 10.2 times. 

It is also satisfying to see that broader investor interest in the
company has swelled shareholder numbers by 21 per cent to
2,877 from 2,375 in May last year.

I extend a sincere thank you to all the members of our team
for their contribution to another year of record achievements,
and to our shareholders for their support. 

Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman
17 June 2004



STRATEGIC PROGRESSION 
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In the early 1950s Programmed Maintenance Services pioneered the concept of
long-term maintenance painting – initial refurbishment followed by regular
preventative maintenance. This offered building owners a cost-effective way to
maintain the standard of buildings and spread their costs over the life of a
contract, improving their cash flow. It gave us more certainty, ability to plan our
work flow, associated efficiencies, and a closer relationship with our customers. 

This model was extended geographically from Victoria to other states, then to
New Zealand in 1986, and to the United Kingdom in 2000. More importantly, 
we have expanded our services from painting to an increasing array of other
maintenance services. Today, Programmed Maintenance Services offers more
than two dozen maintenance services for buildings, grounds and industrial
facilities, ranging from graffiti removal and sports ground management to a
safer way to uncover underground pipes and cables.

This strategic progression is the engine that will underpin future growth 
in earnings.

Recoverables, work in progress and net debt (A$m)
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The growth in recoverables and work in
progress has been financed internally by
improved cash flows. The recoverables are the
major asset of the company and represent
amounts to be received from customers over
the term of the maintenance programmes.
Improved cash flows over the past few years
have also enabled reduction in the bank debt.
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The record performance of the past year and the double-digit
profit growth each year since ASX listing in October 1999
demonstrates the success of our strategy to develop our long
term maintenance painting model geographically, and to expand
our service offering within the property maintenance sector.

As evidence of the continued growth of our maintenance
painting programmes, our contract recoverables grew during
the year from $126.6 million to $131.3 million. This underpins
our future cash flows and operational activity within the
painting businesses. 

The non-painting businesses provided 29 per cent of
Australian property maintenance revenue, and this proportion
is expected to grow. Building Services was the stand-out
performer, with revenue up by 38 per cent and significant
growth in earnings. Grounds Management, which provides
landscaping and grounds maintenance services, had a
successful year, while there was increased demand for our
Corporate Imaging business in providing national reimaging
services for customers around the country. 

The painting business in Australia continued its consistent
growth of recent years, performing well in New South Wales,
Queensland and South Australia. Results in Western Australia
were affected by a slow-down in the mining sector and
Victoria’s earnings were disappointing, due to a large
underperforming contract and operational deficiencies, both
of which are being addressed. 

Industrial Services, trading as Barry Bros. Specialised
Services, achieved record revenue and earnings due to
business restructuring and a switch from largely reactive, 
one-off contracts to an emphasis on planned activities that
maximise equipment utilisation.

All regions in New Zealand improved performance, with 
a significant improvement in the northern and southern
regions. Expanding our property maintenance offering to
include building services in the education sector has 
proven successful. 

Our United Kingdom business, Whittle Painting Group, has
succeeded in gaining acceptance in the marketplace for our
unique long term contract model and has now written 
140 maintenance contracts. Long term contracts provided 
16 per cent of Whittle’s revenue during the year, compared
with 10 per cent in the prior year. A public private partnership
(PPP) contract worth approximately $A4 million over four
years to paint and maintain more than 4,000 council-owned
houses at Lancaster is proving a great success for the council,
residents and Whittle. It is a valuable reference site and
reflects a similar programme already in place with the Derby
City Council. 

The Australian business and employees, that we are taking 
on from Serco on 1 July 2004, as mentioned in the Chairman’s
Report, will further extend the value proposition that we offer
customers. Under these contracts we provide a mix of
services including on-site security and emergency response
services around-the-clock to government and large
corporations. We are confident we can extend this customer
alliance approach to develop further opportunities in the
marketplace.

The ability of our people to manage property maintenance on
a national scale is illustrated by the grounds maintenance
contract we recently won to maintain more than 6,000 Telstra
facilities across mainland Australia. Several of these are in
locations so remote that they can only be reached by
helicopter. 

While diversifying our range of services to achieve strong
growth in non-painting revenue, we have focused on
developing businesses that are good cash generators, 
to help balance the cash needs of the expected high level of
growth of long term maintenance contracts in the United
Kingdom. Group operating cash flows have improved from
around 40 per cent of earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) five years ago, 
to in excess of 60 per cent in the latest year and we expect 
to maintain similar levels.

Managing Director’s Report 
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You may have noticed the new theme that now accompanies
our corporate image: ‘People Taking Care of Property’. 
It emphasises the importance of our people, the long term
nature of our customer relationships and the evolution of the
company into an integrated property services organisation. 
To promote our brand, the company logo is now bolder and
more noticeable and is consistently being applied throughout
the business.

A further differentiator of Programmed Maintenance Services
from competitors is our service-oriented training and the
safety ethos that we infuse in our people. With more than
2,000 people working on numerous sites across three
countries, we are continuing to build quality and safety into
our culture. This is supported by our five OH&S specialists
who regularly reinforce our group programmes in quality 
and safety.

In the past three years this has enabled us to reduce the
number and duration of injuries throughout the group.
Proactive injury management has reduced the down-time of
injured workers, with 83 per cent now returning to work within
10 days of an injury, compared with 60 per cent three years
ago. This improved safety record has created a greater
awareness and pride amongst all of our employees.  

The following pages provide detail on each of our businesses.
All people within our business are dedicated to our strategy of
achieving double-digit growth in revenue and earnings. 
The newer geographic markets in New Zealand and the
United Kingdom, together with the non-painting activities in
Australia, are expected to grow at a more rapid rate than the
more mature Australian painting business.  

I would like to thank all of our management, staff and
customers for their continued support, which has enabled the
company to complete another successful year.

Max Findlay
Managing Director
17 June 2004

Managing Director’s Report 
continued



BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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Australia

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 32
Revenue: $139.5 million

ACTIVITIES

Integrated property maintenance 
services consisting of:

• the largest contract painting business 
in Australia;

• one of Australia’s top three grounds
management businesses; and

• a building services business which
provides maintenance audits, programmed
cyclical maintenance and essential service
and compliance audits.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Painting programmes expanded in education, resorts, apartment
buildings and the aged care and retirement sectors 

• National contract to wash BP service stations including the use
of recycled water

• New grounds maintenance contract to provide grounds services
to over 6,000 Telstra network facilities nationally

• Increasing demand for integrated maintenance packages of 
our services.

Australia

INDUSTRIAL 
SERVICES

Branches: 8 
Revenue: $18.8 million

ACTIVITIES

Trading as Barry Bros. Specialised Services,
provides a range of sewerage and drain
maintenance, high pressure cleaning,
non-destructive digging services and water
recycling technologies.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Profit up 178 per cent

• 50% growth in non-destructive digging work

• Treated over five million litres of recycled water in conjunction with the
City of Port Phillip – and a finalist in the prestigious Banksia
Environmental Awards

• Major Victorian projects on West Gate Bridge, Anglesea and Hazelwood
power stations, and concrete demolition on Gellibrand Wharf

• Major NSW programme of closed circuit television and sewer repair for
Sydney Water.

New Zealand 

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 13 
Revenue: $A29.1 million

ACTIVITIES

Operates the largest contract painting
business in New Zealand.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Strong growth in all regions

• Building Services business established in October 2003 made
positive earnings contribution

• National contract to refurbish interiors of 165 Westpac
branches completed

• New Whangarei branch established in the Northland area
thereby completing our national branch network.

United Kindom 

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 6
Revenue: $A18.5 million

ACTIVITIES

Trading as Whittle Painting Group,
introducing the concept of long-term
maintenance painting programmes to
the United Kingdom market. 

HIGHLIGHTS

• Long-term contracts made up an increasing proportion
of new business

• Four-year $4 million contract to paint and maintain 
over 4,000 council-owned houses within the 
Lancaster region

• Strong growth in the education sector; now 50 per cent
of the long term maintenance painting business

• New branch opened in Bristol since year end to expand
into south of England.
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John Humar, state manager, Corporate Imaging, helped implement a national re-imaging program for Yamaha, which
commenced in 1996. Programmed Maintenance Services has re-imaged 360 Yamaha retail sites throughout Australia
and New Zealand, which include motorcycles, marine and specialist golfing outlets. 

A simple store re-image can be a complex process. The process commences with initial customer consultation, site
surveys, presentation of concept designs and finished artwork. Computer enhanced images of each store show
customers exactly what the finished store will look like. These images are stored on our database, which can be
accessed via our web-based Customer Image Management System. Once the initial stages are approved, project
budgets and national project schedules are established before work commences. Yamaha can now boast a uniformly
high standard visual image throughout all Australian and New Zealand stores.



REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

AUSTRALIA

PROPERTY MAINTENANCE

Our Australian property maintenance businesses, including
painting, grounds management and building services, lifted
revenue by 12.2 per cent to a record $139.5 million in the year
to 31 March 2004, while earnings before interest and tax rose
10.2 per cent to $16.6 million. All businesses contributed to
this growth.

We have increasing opportunities to offer our services as an
integrated package to markets such as schools, universities,
hospitals, nursing homes, corporations and government
agencies. In the past year this has been realised in new
contracts for customers such as  Swan Village of Care,
Western Australia, where we are providing both painting and
grounds services; Masonic Homes in Goulburn, New South
Wales, with building services, painting and grounds
management; and The Village Glen Retirement Village on the
Mornington Peninsula, Victoria, with painting and grounds
management.

A national account management structure was introduced to
improve management of our nationwide contracts, such as
the three-year contract to wash and maintain BP service
stations and the re-imaging work completed for Coles
Supermarkets during the year. As part of the BP contract, we
are using recycled water in Victoria from our industrial
services facility – another example of the way we can
integrate our services. 

Painting Services

Continued growth of our Painting Services in Australia helped
push the group’s total painting hours past two million hours -
worked for the first time. This was double the annual hours of
five years ago.

Major areas of new growth included resorts, apartment
buildings and the aged care and retirement sector, while we
consolidated our position in the education, industrial and 
retail areas. 

Business improved significantly in Queensland after issues
leading to poor performance in the previous year were
addressed, while good growth continued in New South Wales.
Both states overcame the lower demand from tourism and
rural industries in the first half with a strong second half. In
Victoria further contracts were established in the food
industry; specifically with fruit processing, wine and dairy
companies. 

In South Australia, we expanded business in the Riverland-
Mildura region. Activity with the University of Adelaide was
extended, and we increased our work with local councils,
including the Adelaide City Council. Western Australia
continued its growth, especially in Bunbury, while growth was
also achieved in Darwin, Northern Territory.
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TWELVE YEAR MAINTENANCE PAINTING PROGRAMME

Our long term maintenance programme model provides customers with a
tailored maintenance programme with terms ranging from two to 12 years,
depending on the condition of each property. We adapt the programme to each
customer’s specific needs.  

Painting programmes usually include the initial repainting and refurbishment
works in the first year of the programme, followed by maintenance servicing
where surfaces are either cleaned or repainted after normal wear and tear
causes paint breakdown. Longer-term programmes incorporate a further 
repaint some years later, depending on the programme schedule. 
Customers have the facility to spread maintenance costs over the term of the
programme, which are indexed to maintain the relative value of each payment. 
In this way, customers enjoy many benefits, including: 

• flexibility; 
• simplified budgeting;

• properties being maintained to high standards; and
• long term cost savings.

Where greater value can be provided, additional services are being incorporated
into the programme model, creating a more ‘integrated’ service offering.

0%
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Years

Scheduled payments
(before indexation)

Work performed

*Payments are indexed to increases in costs.

Typical twelve year programme

Work performed vs. scheduled payments*



012_ANNUAL REPORT 2004  PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 

One of the largest not-for-profit residential retirement villages in Australia, Swan Village of Care, has its grounds and
painting needs maintained entirely by Programmed Maintenance Services.  The work covers over 300 residential units
across multiple sites in the Perth metropolitan area. We commenced with a six-year maintenance painting programme,
and this was then extended to add services from our Grounds Management business. We now care for all grounds
management at all locations. This includes mowing, edging, fertilizing, gardening, landscaping and provision of
specialist horticultural advice. 

Pictured above are gardeners, Clarissa Newell and Liam Fuery, and painter, John Henderson.



REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS
continued

Corporate Imaging

This business grew strongly, supplying illuminated signage for
automotive dealerships and carrying out a variety of major
refurbishment and replacement of corporate branding for
national chains.

We extended our capabilities in retail re-imaging, with a large-
scale project for John Danks Limited, upgrading the image of
its Home Hardware stores across Australia. The business also
undertook corporate imaging for Yamaha in Australia and New
Zealand and for Bridgestone Tyre Centres. 

Grounds Management Services

Grounds Management achieved a significant increase in profit,
with improved performance in Victoria and South Australia
where new contracts and improved operational controls lifted
earnings. 

In New South Wales the business continued to consolidate its
position, expanding customer numbers and delivering better
results.

Significant contracts were renewed during the year while new
contracts included Methodist Ladies College and Nutrimetrics
in Melbourne, Western Australian Transport Authority and
several schools and retirement homes. New work for Telstra,
Mobil and Woolworths has given us grounds work in all states
of Australia, providing a stronger platform to build our
business nationally.

Building Services

A 38 per cent increase in revenue for the year reflected the
rapid nationwide expansion of our Building Services’
business.

We have concentrated on adding further building and
property related expertise to provide an integrated asset
maintenance service. This ‘one-stop-shop’ was embraced by
many existing customers in the past year, including retirement
village owners, educational institutions and government.

New South Wales, South Australia and Victoria continued
strong performances, extending existing contracts and
developing new customers. These included extensions of our
contracts with the South Australian Housing Trust, facility and
project management for the Aboriginal Housing Trust, and
essential services management for the Catholic Archdiocese
of Melbourne. In its first year of operation, the Perth office
offered services to many existing Programmed Maintenance
Services customers to produce a pleasing result. Our recently
established Queensland business is also continuing to grow
and has made a small contribution this year. 

A national roll-out of building audit services, using new
technology, was well accepted and generated a significant
increase in demand. This service provides customers with a
detailed property audit, which outlines their future
maintenance requirements and compliance with the Building
Code of Australia and OH&S legislation.
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Brian Chaplin, project manager, Building Services, Victoria, completes an Essential Services Audit at Star of the Sea
College at Gardenvale in Melbourne. We provide essential services compliance management to over 700 parish churches
and properties for the Catholic Archdiocese of Melbourne. The vast majority of properties are schools, which are located
throughout Victoria, providing learning environments to over 100,000 students.

In July 1994, new Essential Services compliance legislation was introduced, requiring building owners to maintain
essential services, safety measures and safety equipment in all buildings to a specific standard, ensuring they operate as
intended in an emergency. 

We complete both annual and quarterly update compliance audits at each school, train key school staff and provide
recommendations, advice and costs to meet legislative requirements. Upon successful completion of the audit each
school is issued with a ‘Form 15’ compliance certificate. Both the audit report and ‘Form 15’ certificate are provided to
the school in hard copy and are also downloadable by each school directly from the Programmed Maintenance Services
web site.



REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS
continued

INDUSTRIAL SERVICES

Restructuring and refocusing helped our Industrial Services
business achieve a 178 per cent improvement in earnings, on
an 11.3 per cent increase in revenue to $18.8 million. 

Barry Bros. Specialised Services managed a significant shift
from its dependence on reactive work for water authorities to
a wider range of industrial customers. This has provided more
consistent work, which has enabled better utilization of our
capital-intensive equipment. 

The new technologies we have pioneered in this business are
now being well accepted in the market place. There is
widespread awareness and acknowledgement that our non-
destructive digging units that use high-pressure air and water
to safely locate underground cables or pipes have great
advantages. They also eliminate disruption and danger caused
by inadvertent damage to gas, electricity or water supply by
careless excavations.

In conjunction with the City of Port Phillip, we commenced
water recycling at Port Melbourne, treating over five million
litres of water for use in washing buildings in the painting
business and to water local ovals. This successful project
qualified Barry Bros. as a finalist in the prestigious Banksia
Foundation national environmental awards. Since financial
year-end the business has initiated further development in
northern Victoria and has plans for extending water recycling
into New South Wales and Queensland.

Other major Industrial Services activities included projects for
the West Gate Bridge, Anglesea and Hazelwood power
stations in Victoria, concrete demolition on Gellibrand Wharf,
also in Victoria, and major work with Sydney Water using our
closed circuit television (CCTV) units in a sewer upgrading
programme.

During the year, $3.5 million was invested in expanding and
upgrading our equipment in recognition of the improvement
in return on investment that this business has achieved.

PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2004_015

s 0

5

10

15

20

2002 2003 2004

A
$m

Industrial Services revenue



016_ANNUAL REPORT 2004  PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 

Programmed Maintenance Services’ foreman, Dominic Towey, at Rangitoto College, one of the 650 schools throughout
New Zealand on our maintenance programme. As a result of a change in Government policy in the early 1990s, the
New Zealand Ministry of Education gave more responsibility for school maintenance to local school Boards of Trustees.
The policy required a more proactive, long term approach to school maintenance and our long term maintenance
painting programme was ideally suited for this. With the benefits of flexibility, ease of budgeting and spread of
payments, our programmes have quickly spread throughout the education sector. Some of the first schools on
programme, Tauranga Boys High School, Whangarei Intermediate and Rosehill College, remain on programme today. 



REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS
continued

NEW ZEALAND

Revenue from our property maintenance business rose by
12.6 per cent to A$29.1 million, continuing the strong
performance of recent years. Earnings before interest and tax
of A$8.5 million represented 9.3 per cent growth.

As a further extension of our strategy we have commenced
our Building Services business in the Midlands region to take
advantage of our strong customer relationship in the education
sector. Initial acceptance of this service has been positive.

Education is a significant market for us and we now have
some 650 educational institutions (kindergartens, primary,
intermediate and secondary schools, polytechnics and
universities) on long term maintenance painting programmes.
The school programmes are individual to each school and
managed by a locally elected Board of Trustees. 

With 13 branches throughout New Zealand, Programmed
Maintenance Services was well placed to win a national
contract to refurbish the interior of 165 Westpac branches.
This project was completed over a three month period,
requiring our tradespeople to work at night to minimise
disruption during banking hours. Towards the end of the
financial year, our Christchurch branch began a significant long
term programme with Landcorp Farming Limited, New
Zealand’s biggest sheep farm operator, on its largest sheep
farm. We are optimistic that this will lead to more work in this
sector. The Whangarei branch, established at the end of the
previous year with a local manager and painting team,
completes our national coverage.

UNITED KINGDOM

The United Kingdom painting business, Whittle Painting
Group, continued to generate demand for long-term
maintenance contracts, a unique offering in that market. As at
the end of May 2004, it had signed a total of 140 contracts
with a value of over A$11.0 million.

United Kingdom revenue rose by 3.8 per cent to A$18.5
million. Earnings before interest and tax, and after goodwill
amortisation and United Kingdom head office costs, were 
77.3 per cent lower, at A$0.2 million primarily due to operating
losses incurred in the Manchester branch.

Whittle management and staff are increasingly positive about
the prospects for programmes, and we are excited about the
potential for the business.  Our unique maintenance painting
programme model is gaining increased acceptance and
momentum in all market segments, and we are continuing to
build on our customer testimonials in our market networking.

The past year saw a bigger take-up of our services among
private and government schools, which now account for
almost half our United Kingdom programmes. Involvement in
an education conference for the second year generated
further inquiries and is part of the direct sales development
approach we are taking within chosen market segments. We
also won several contracts to maintain historic houses and
expect these will develop further opportunities. Our contract
to paint and maintain 4,300 council-owned houses in
Lancaster, won during the year, is proving a major success
and a valuable reference site.  Strong growth was also
achieved in the education sector. 

The Birmingham and Nottingham branches performed well.
Manchester produced an inadequate return, but new
management has shown improvement in its results. We
recently opened a new branch in Bristol, to expand into the
south-west of England.
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Painting foreman Geoff Richmond and painter Andrew Dawe working on public housing for the Lancaster City Council,
UK.  Early in 2003, the council wished to change its approach to tendering and adopt the ‘Best Value’ principles which
formed the basis of the UK government report, Rethinking Construction, by Lord John Egan. Our contract with the
Lancaster City Council encompasses a unique, four-year partnering arrangement to maintain over 4,300 council-owned
public houses spread across 28 estates within Lancashire County, north of Manchester. Valued at over A$1 million
annually, the contract is based on open-book accounting principles, where cost savings are shared between the
company and the council. As an added value, we maintain the work completed on each property until the end of the
contract period. A team of up to 25 in-house trade staff, with project managers based at our Preston office, manage
the programme.
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REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS
continued

OUR PEOPLE

In 2003-04 Programmed Maintenance Services realised
significant benefits from its extensive investment in
Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S). Our long term injury
frequency rate (LTIFR) fell significantly, with the majority of
injured workers returning to work within one day of an
incident. Many of our teams, including those operating in our
highest risk environments, continued to achieve the corporate
objective of Zero Lost Time Injuries. Our OH&S systems are
designed in accordance with the AS/NZS 4801 standard.

In 2003-04 the company also undertook the redevelopment
and accreditation of its business processes in line with the ISO
9000:2000 standard. This is being supported by a re-
education program with staff at all levels across the company.
Our objective is to ensure that our service delivery to
customers is consistent with our business process and
continues to be of the highest standard possible.

Over the past year, we made a significant investment in
developing the skills and capabilities of our people. A Team
Development Program was rolled out nationally. It included
training workshops for our team leaders and supervisors, and
was based on our values, safety, communication and business
processes. We also delivered leadership training to over 100
executives and managers, in consultation with development
partners including Mt Eliza Business School and the Australian
Institute of Management. Our commitment to recruiting and
developing management trainees produced five graduates from
our 12-month cadet programme last year. A further three have
commenced, with three more to begin mid year.

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION

Programmed Maintenance Services values the role that
technology can play to co-ordinate our increasingly complex
work-flow processes, improve productivity and add value to
the services we provide customers. We support our
customers by designing technology solutions that increase
the productivity of those using the property, while simplifying
processes for the property manager.

For instance, our Building Services people now use PenTablets
to carry out on-site audits, using touch screen technology and
downloading the data to a central database once they return
to the office. This enables direct input of information into the
auditing databases for more speedy production of property
audit and compliance reports. Our “e-maintenance” system
gives customers web-based access to real time maintenance
scheduling and status reports on each of their buildings.

Another example is our unique Customer Image Management
system, which enables customers to check the status of
signage and corporate imaging work that we are carrying out
on their sites scattered across Australia. This was refined
during the past year.

We have also further developed our fully integrated customer
feedback programme, which automatically forwards over 500
surveys a month to our customers. With an above average
industry response rate of over 31 per cent, we continue to
gather valuable information from our customers, which
support our continuous improvement programmes and
cuctomer knowledge throughout the group.

Together with our fully integrated IT system and continual
improvements to our work management processes, these
technology initiatives help keep us ahead of the competition
by improving our levels of customer service and our value
proposition.

PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2004_019



DIRECTORS

GEOFF TOMLINSON, CHAIRMAN

Appointed chairman in August 1999, Mr Tomlinson is also the
chairman of Reckon Limited and Funtastic Limited, and is the
deputy chairman of Hansen Technologies Limited.  He is a
director of the National Australia Bank Limited, Amcor Limited
and Mirrabooka Investments Limited. Mr Tomlinson holds a
Bachelor of Economics from the University of Western
Australia. Age 56. 

Mr Tomlinson is an independent director and his term of office
expires in August 2006.

SUSAN OLIVER, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

A non-executive director since August 1999, Ms Oliver also
holds non-executive directorships with Transurban Group, The
Smith Family Limited, MBF Australia, Methodist Ladies College
and The Australian Business Foundation. Ms Oliver has held
senior management positions in the Departments of Housing
and Construction and Industry, Science and Resources, and in
the consulting companies Invetech and Andersen Consulting.
She has extensive professional experience in strategy,
marketing, technology and scenario planning and currently
runs her own consulting and advisory practice in these areas.
Ms Oliver began her career in the construction industry and
has a Bachelor of Property & Construction from Melbourne
University and is a Member of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors. Age 53.

Ms. Oliver is an independent director and her term of office
expires in August 2004.

MAX FINDLAY, MANAGING DIRECTOR

Appointed managing director in March 1990, Mr Findlay is
also chairman of The PMS Foundation.  He has extensive
experience in industry, including over 20 years in marketing
and general management roles in the industrial and
manufacturing industries. Mr Findlay holds a Bachelor of
Economics (Politics) from Monash University and is a Fellow
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  Age 57.

BRIAN POLLOCK, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

A non-executive director since August 1999, Mr Pollock has
over 30 years experience in the finance and property industry
with the AMP Society and National Mutual. He is chairman of
the Industry Superannuation Property Trust (retiring on 6 July
2004), Members Equity Portfolio Management Limited and
Becton Developments Limited, and a director of Macquarie
Real Estate Equity Fund No 1 Pty Ltd and Macquarie Real
Estate Equity Fund No 2 Pty Ltd. He is a Fellow of the
Australian Property Institute and a Senior Associate of the
Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and
Finance. He was National President of the Property Council of
Australia in 1993 and 1994. Age 58.

Mr Pollock is an independent director and his term of office
expires in August 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The board of directors guides and monitors the business and affairs of
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited on behalf of its shareholders, 
by whom the directors are elected and to whom they are accountable.

This statement sets out the corporate governance practices that were in
operation throughout the financial year, which substantially comply with the
"Best Practice Recommendations" of the ASX Corporate Governance Council.
Any instances of non-compliance with the recommendations is noted. 

RESPECTIVE ROLES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the
consolidated entity, including engaging with management in the development 
of strategic plans, preparation of annual budgets, establishment of goals for
management and monitoring the achievement of those goals on a regular basis. 

The board is also responsible for:-

• reviewing the performance of the Managing Director and 
senior management 

• planning the development, retention and succession of the 
management team

• reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal
compliance, including approving and monitoring the policies and 
procedures relating to occupational health and safety

• approving and monitoring financial and other reporting, including the
progress of major capital expenditure and capital management

• approving and monitoring acquisitions and divestitures

• ensuring an informed market exists at all times in respect of the company.

The board has established the Committees described below to assist in 
its responsibility. 

STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The names of the directors of the company at the date of this statement are
included in the Directors’ Report. The board consists of four directors, one
executive director (the managing director) and three non-executive directors.
The three non-executive directors are assessed as being independent directors,
thereby complying with the recommendation that a majority of the board should
be independent. The chairman is a non-executive, independent director and
there is a clear division of responsibility between the chairman and the
managing director.

In May 2003, the board determined to formally establish a nomination
committee. Prior to May 2003, the board informally evaluated the board’s
performance and determined the terms and conditions relating to the
appointment and retirement of directors. Since inception, the membership of 
the Committee has comprised only non-executive independent directors being:

• Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson (Chair)

• Susan Mary Oliver

• Brian John Pollock

The nomination committee has the responsibilities of:

• assessing the necessary and desirable competencies of board members

• reviewing the board’s succession plans

• evaluating the board’s performance

• making recommendations for the appointment and removal of directors.

If the nomination committee determined that a new non-executive director were
required, the nomination committee would seek the most suitable person with
an appropriate range of skills and expertise. The identified individual would then
stand for election at the next annual general meeting.

The non-executive directors are appointed for specific three year terms under
the constitution of the company, and upon the expiry of the term are entitled to
stand for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting. The expiry date of
each non-executive director’s term of office is detailed on page 20 under the
biographical details of each director.

In the proper performance of their duties, each director has the right to seek a
reasonable level of independent professional advice on matters concerning the
company at the company’s expense, after obtaining the chairman’s approval. 

ETHICAL STANDARDS AND CODE OF CONDUCT

The company has previously advised shareholders that it endorses the need for
all directors, managers, office and field staff to maintain a high standard of
behaviour and business ethics in our day-to-day business activities. The board
has responsibility for developing and monitoring:-

• expectations with regard to ethical conduct

• periods during which directors may deal in the securities of the company
and procedures for notification of such dealing

• procedures to be adopted in respect of potential conflicts of interest

• procedures for prior approval of contracts with directors.

The board has established a formal code of conduct that complies with the 
best practice recommendations regarding standards of ethical behaviour for
directors, managers and staff, and also regarding compliance with legal and
other obligations to non-shareholder stakeholders such as customers and the
community as a whole. The code of conduct is posted on the company’s 
web site.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The managing director and the general manager, finance and administration,
have stated in writing to the Board that the company’s financial statements for
each annual and half-yearly report present a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the company’s financial condition and operating results.

The Board established a Board Audit and Compliance Committee in 
September 1999. In 2002, the name of the committee was changed to the
Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management Committee. Since inception, 
the membership of the Committee has comprised only non-executive
independent directors, being:

• Brian John Pollock (Chair)

• Susan Mary Oliver

• Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson

The Board has given consideration to the possible appointment of a qualified
accountant as a director. The Board does not currently consider such an
appointment is necessary as the non-executive directors, who comprise the
Board Audit Compliance & Risk Management Committee, are financially literate
and have sufficient public company experience in financial matters.

The formal charter of the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management
Committee includes the following roles and responsibilities:-

• reviewing the half-yearly and annual financial statements prior to their 
approval by the Board

• monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and management 
information systems

• liaising with the external auditors to ensure that statutory audits are 
conducted in an effective manner

• monitoring compliance with the Corporations Law, Stock Exchange Listing 
Rules and other regulatory authorities and financial institutions

• reviewing of significant areas of potential business and legal risk when they 
are identified and determining procedures to manage these risks on a case-
by-case basis.

The number of meetings of the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management
Committee, and the members’ attendance are disclosed in the Director’s Report
on page 26. 

TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

To ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and
accountability at a senior management level for that compliance, the Board has
established written policies and procedures that are incorporated into the code
of conduct.

The current practice of the Board is to review and authorise any company
announcement to ensure that the information is factual, timely, clearly
expressed and contains all material information so that investors can make
appropriate assessments of the information for investment decisions.

The company is reviewing the opportunities to take advantage of technology,
such as the company website, to provide greater opportunities for effective
communication with shareholders and to encourage participation at meetings.
The current practice of the company is to place on the website all company
announcements, and related information, such as financial statements and
public presentations.

RISK OVERSIGHT AND MANAGEMENT

As described above, the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management
Committee has responsibility to review significant areas of potential business
and legal risk, and to monitor the effectiveness of internal control and
management information systems. In previous years, the managing director and
the general manager, finance and administration, have stated in writing to the
board that the integrity of the financial statements has been founded on a sound
system of internal compliance and control.

REMUNERATION PRACTICES

The remuneration of the directors and the five senior executives of the company
is disclosed in the Directors’ Report on page 27. The disclosure includes the
salary, superannuation contributions, non-cash benefits and payments from
incentive schemes. The remuneration of the non-executive directors is clearly
distinguished from the managing director’s remuneration. Any equity-based
remuneration, such as the issue of share options, is made in accordance with
the thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders in 1999.

The Board established the Remuneration Committee in September 1999. This
committee reviews and approves salary and other benefits for the managing
director and senior management of the company. The Remuneration Committee
meets as required. Since inception, the membership of the Committee has
comprised only non-executive independent directors, being:

• Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson (Chair)

• Susan Mary Oliver

• Brian John Pollock

The remuneration policies of the company reviewed with due regard to
performance and other relevant factors in order to retain and attract executives
of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective management of the
consolidated entity’s operations.
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Directors’ Report

The directors of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited submit herewith the annual financial report for the financial year
ended 31st March 2004. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson Chairman

Maxwell John Findlay Managing Director

Susan Mary Oliver Non-Executive Director 

Brian John Pollock Non-Executive Director

All of the abovenamed directors held office during and since the end of the financial year. Particulars of the directors are shown on
page 20 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the provision of property maintenance services
to commerce, industry and government by way of:

- programmed maintenance painting, grounds maintenance services, general property maintenance services and 
corporate signage;

- specialised industrial services.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The net amount of profit of the consolidated entity for the financial year after income tax expense was $16,291,000 (2003:
$14,319,000). A detailed review of the operations of the consolidated entity is contained in the Chairman’s and Managing
Director’s reports in this annual report.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

There has been no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, other than that referred to in the financial
statements or notes thereto

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Since the end of the financial year, the consolidated entity has entered into an agreement with Serco Australia Pty. Ltd. to
purchase several integrated services contracts. The transfer of these contracts is subject to the consent of the customers. It is
expected that these contracts will be transferred to Programmed Maintenance Services by 1 July 2004. These contracts, which
provide annual revenue of over $25 million, are projected to make a small contribution to earnings in the 2005 financial year.

Apart from the above, there has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or
notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the
operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future
financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in future financial years and the
expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, this
information has not been disclosed in this report.
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Directors’ Report

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The consolidated entity aims to achieve a high standard on environmental matters. During the financial year:

• licenses were renewed and taken out as and when required by environmental authorities; and

• the directors have not received notification nor are they aware of any breaches of environmental laws by the 
consolidated entity.

DIVIDENDS

In respect of the financial year ended 31st March 2003, as detailed in the directors’ report for that financial year, a final dividend of
$3,357,000 (5 cents per share), franked to 50% at the 30% corporate tax rate, to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares was paid
on 24th July 2003.

In respect of the financial year ended 31st March 2004, an interim dividend of $3,761,000 (5.5 cents per share), franked to 50% at
the 30% corporate tax rate, was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 23rd January 2004.

In respect of the financial year ended 31st March 2004, the directors declared a final dividend of $4,472,000 (6.5 cents per share),
franked to 50% at the 30% corporate tax rate, payable to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 23rd July 2004.

SHARE OPTIONS

No share options were granted to any directors or executives of the company during the financial year.

During the financial year, an aggregate of 736,000 share options were exercised in accordance with the provisions of the executive
and employee share option plan, resulting in the issue of 736,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $2.00 each, thereby increasing the
issued capital of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited by $1,472,000.

Also during the financial year, 122,000 share options lapsed.

The aggregate of unissued shares under option are as follows:

Date Issued No. Issued Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period

Start Expiry

29.09.99 546,000 24 cents $2.00 29.09.02 29.09.04

29.09.99 546,000 27 cents $2.00 29.09.03 29.09.05

8.05.02 128,000 Nil $2.49 29.09.02 29.09.04

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.54 29.09.03 29.09.05

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.57 29.09.04 29.09.06

The holders of any of the above options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share or interest issue of
any other body corporate or registered scheme.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as named
above), the company secretary, Mr I. H. Jones, and executive officers of the company and of any related body corporate against a
liability incurred as such a director, company secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.
The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the
company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the
financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director.

Board of Directors Audit and Compliance Committee Remuneration Committee

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

G. A. Tomlinson 15 15 5 5 1 1

M. J. Findlay 15 15 - - - -

S. M. Oliver 15 15 5 5 1 1

B. J. Pollock 15 15 5 5 1 1

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in Programmed Maintenance Services Limited
at the date of this report:

Directors

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Share Options**

G. A. Tomlinson *124,000 36,000

M. J. Findlay 1,006,675 150,000

S. M. Oliver *12,654 30,000

B. J. Pollock 1,335 30,000

* Beneficial interest

** Each share option upon exercise becomes one fully paid ordinary share.

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee, which was set up in September 1999, reviews the remuneration packages of all directors and
executive officers on an annual basis. Remuneration packages are reviewed with due regard to performance and other relevant
factors in order to retain and attract executives of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective management of the
consolidated entity’s operations.

The managing director makes recommendations for executive staff to the remuneration committee. The chairman, managing
director and non-executive directors’ remuneration arrangements are reviewed by the remuneration committee annually and
recommendations are made to the Board.
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DIRECTORS

The following table discloses the remuneration of the directors of the company:

Primary Post Employment Equity

Salary Bonus Non- Super- Prescribed Other Options Other TOTAL
& Fees Monetary annuation Benefits Benefits

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

G.A. Tomlinson 116,620 - - 9,675 - - 2,798 - 129,093

S.M. Oliver 73,433 - - 6,375 - - 2,332 - 82,140

B.J. Pollock 73,433 - - 6,375 - - 2,332 - 82,140

Managing Director

M.J. Findlay 275,924 226,075 67,244 90,147 - - 11,658 - 671,048

EXECUTIVES

The following table discloses the remuneration of the five highest remunerated executives of the company, excluding the 
executive director:

Primary Post Employment Equity

Salary Bonus Non- Super- Prescribed Other Options Other TOTAL
& Fees Monetary annuation Benefits Benefits

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

I.H. Jones 226,012 58,000 16,900 24,460 - - 28,310 - 353,682

I.W. Craig 190,369 45,200 61,664 51, 950 - - 9,326 - 358,509

B.J. Horskins 166,563 41,400 28,250 34,900 - - 6,995 - 278,108

M.P. Piwkowski 106,699 27,600 58,230 34,989 - - 3,497 - 231,015

P.R. Warman 142,677 23,700 30,106 23,153 - - 3,497 - 223,133

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

a. Primary Benefits - salaries/fees, bonuses and non-monetary benefits including the provision of motor vehicles and 
health benefits;

b. Post Employments Benefits - including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits;

c. Equity - share options granted under the directors and executive share option plan as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial
statements. The value of the share options granted is allocated proportionately to reporting periods between date of issue 
and date of expiry; and

d. Other Benefits.

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS

The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with the
Class Order, amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed in accordance with the Resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

M. J. Findlay
Director

17 June 2004



Statement of Financial Performance
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

028_ANNUAL REPORT 2004  PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 

Consolidated Company

2004 2003 2004 2003 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Revenue from ordinary activities 2 205,868 185,113 140,286 124,595 

Changes in inventories of finished goods (128) 77 (233) 143 

Raw materials and consumables used (18,220) (18,962) (10,945) (10,313)

Personnel costs (84,401) (75,575) (56,792) (50,749)

Sub-contractor costs (47,532) (38,147) (39,620) (33,656)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (6,789) (6,618) (4,032) (3,917)

Borrowing costs (2,668) (3,232) (1,709) (2,150)

Equipment and vehicle costs (8,575) (6,495) (4,137) (4,187)

Information technology and telecommunication costs (2,638) (2,308) (1,872) (1,505)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (10,892) (12,804) (5,146) (5,039)

Profit From Ordinary Activities
Before Income Tax Expense 2 24,025 21,049 15,800 13,222 

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 4 (7,734) (6,730) (4,736) (4,185)

Profit From Ordinary Activities After
Related Income Tax Expense 16,291 14,319 11,064 9,037 

Increase/(decrease) in foreign currency translation
reserve arising on translation of self-sustaining 
foreign operations 29 (1,248) 2,435 – – 

Total Revenue, Expense and Valuation 
Adjustments Attributable to Members 
of the Parent Entity Recognised Directly
in Equity (1,248) 2,435 – – 

Total Changes in Equity Other than those 
Resulting from Transactions with 
Owners as Owners 15,043 16,754 11,064 9,037 

Earnings Per Share:

Basic (cents per share) 36 23.9 21.8 

Diluted (cents per share) 36 23.9 21.8 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 31 to 66.



Statement of Financial Position
As At 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Current Assets

Cash assets 2,059 2,920 2,028 2,835 

Receivables 8 96,754 89,811 68,283 62,570 

Inventories 9 12,978 8,716 11,067 7,660 

Other financial assets 10 – – 2,023 2,488 

Current tax assets 11 245 28 – – 

Other 12 3,794 3,636 2,369 2,325 

Total Current Assets 115,830 105,111 85,770 77,878 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 13 73,535 70,807 46,455 46,584 

Inventories 14 7,300 5,310 5,838 4,308 

Other financial assets 15 282 426 14,256 12,309 

Property, plant and equipment 16 20,802 19,029 10,417 10,932 

Intangibles 17 2,335 2,479 – – 

Deferred tax assets 18 3,305 2,902 2,764 2,492 

Total Non-Current Assets 107,559 100,953 79,730 76,625 

Total Assets 223,389 206,064 165,500 154,503 

Current Liabilities

Payables 20 23,362 17,136 16,525 11,299 

Interest-bearing liabilities 21 5,531 5,981 2,323 3,224 

Current tax liabilities 22 2,845 424 2,493 276 

Provisions 23 5,630 8,014 4,966 7,425 

Total Current Liabilities 37,368 31,555 26,307 22,224 

Non-Current Liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 24 38,266 43,891 26,286 31,794 

Deferred tax liabilities 25 44,344 41,994 31,710 30,108 

Provisions 26 804 879 763 838 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 83,414 86,764 58,759 62,740 

Total Liabilities 120,782 118,319 85,066 84,964 

Net Assets 102,607 87,745 80,434 69,539 

Equity

Contributed equity 28 21,082 17,406 21,082 17,406 

Reserves 29 6,695 7,943 5,535 5,535 

Retained profits 30 74,830 62,396 53,817 46,598 

Total Equity 102,607 87,745 80,434 69,539

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 31 to 66.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Receipts from customers 202,333 179,704 140,584 122,030 

Payments to suppliers and employees (180,812) (161,169) (124,843) (110,778)

Interest received 102 88 91 75 

Interest and other costs of finance paid (2,668) (3,264) (1,709) (2,150)

Income tax paid (2,996) (2,429) (1,190) (570)

Net cash provided by operating activities 35(c) 15,959 12,930 12,933 8,607 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Amounts advanced to related parties 83 – (888) – 

Payment for property, plant and equipment (3,616) (3,857) (1,200) (1,650)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,589 1,279 1,227 620 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,944) (2,578) (861) (1,030)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings – 90 – – 

Repayment of borrowings (12,177) (9,529) (8,914) (6,843)

Proceeds from issue of equity securities 1,472 2,018 1,472 2,018 

Dividends paid (4,914) (2,020) (4,914) (2,020)

Net cash used in financing activities (15,619) (9,441) (12,356) (6,845)

Net (Decrease)/Increase In Cash Held (1,604) 911 (284) 732 

Cash At The Beginning Of The Financial Year 1,663 889 2,247 1,515 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance 
of cash held in foreign currencies 12 (137) – – 

Cash At The End Of The Financial Year 35(a) 71 1,663 1,963 2,247 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 31 to 66.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, and complies with other requirements of the law.

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and, except where stated, does not take into account
changing money values or current valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given
in exchange for assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions and other events
is reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Revenue Recognition

RENDERING OF SERVICES

The revenue recognised from rendering of services combines:-

(i) invoicing from the provision of the company's services inclusive of the amounts due and payable under the terms of the
long term maintenance contacts;

(ii) revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed in servicing long term maintenance contracts which, while owing
to the company under the terms of those contracts, will not become payable until future years; and

(iii) revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed under contracts other than long term maintenance contracts.

The revenue earned on work completed comprises the costs incurred plus the individual contract margin earned to date,
based on the percentage of completion and the expected contract margin.

The long term maintenance contracts specifically detail both services to be performed and the invoicing components for each
year of the contracts. The company’s computerised contract administration system enables the stage of completion of each
contract to be reliably measured against predetermined budgets and regularly updated assessments of the work required for
completion of the contract.

The company's long term maintenance contracts include indexation clauses to allow for cost escalations. Labour and material
costs are indexed on publicly available indices, with overhead costs being indexed at long term interest rates.

The company reviews the projected inflows of sales receipts to determine whether the values of revenue earned for the
reporting period and Contracts in Progress at Recoverable Value at the reporting date are recorded at their fair values. The fair
values would be calculated by indexing the nominal values at the weighted average of the indexation and then discounting
these amounts by the implicit rate of interest. As the current view of the company is that the weighted average of the
indexation equates to the implicit rate of interest, there is no material difference between the nominal values and fair values 
of the revenue earned and the recoverable values. Accordingly, the revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work completed 
is recorded at fair value.

OTHER OPERATING REVENUE

Other operating revenue includes interest income on short term monetary investments recognised on the accruals basis.

(b) Contracts in Progress at Recoverable Value

The revenue earned on long term maintenance contracts includes a portion that will only become payable after the 
reporting date. This revenue is carried forward and shown in the statement of financial position as contracts in progress 
at recoverable value.

As described above in the accounting policy on revenue recognition, contracts in progress at recoverable value are reviewed
and recorded at fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except for work in progress which is valued at 
recoverable value.

(d) Income Tax

Tax effect accounting principles have been adopted whereby income tax expense is calculated on pre-tax accounting profits
after adjustment for permanent differences. The tax effect of timing differences, which occur when items are included or
allowed for income tax purposes in a period different to that for accounting, is shown at applicable taxation rates in provision
for deferred income tax and future income tax benefit, as applicable.

(e) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is shorter, using the 
straight-line method.

The following estimated lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Buildings 20 - 30 years

Leasehold improvements - Buildings 5 years

Plant and equipment 5 - 15 years

Equipment under finance lease 5 years

Computer equipment & software 3 years

(f) Foreign Currency

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year have been brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at
that date.

Exchange differences are brought to account in the statement of financial performance in the period in which they arise 
except that:

i. exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use are included in the cost of those
assets; and

ii. exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge the purchase or sale of specific goods and services
are deferred and included in the measurement of the purchase or sale.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in a self-sustaining
foreign operation are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Financial statements of self-sustaining foreign controlled entities are translated at reporting date using the current rate method
and exchange differences are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

(g) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities 
that comprise the consolidated entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its controlled entities as defined in
accounting standard AASB1024 "Consolidated Accounts". A list of controlled entities appears in Note 37 to the financial
statements. Consistent accounting policies have been employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled entity from the date on which the
company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised profits arising
within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

(h) Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(i) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave,
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and other employee benefits expected to
be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time
of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits, which are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured as the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.

(j) Leased Assets

Leased assets classified as finance leases are recognised as assets. The amount initially brought to account is the present
value of minimum lease payments.

A finance lease is one which effectively transfers from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental
to ownership of the leased property.

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Finance lease payments are allocated between interest expense and the reduction of lease liability over the term of the lease.
The interest expense is determined by applying the interest rate implicit in the lease to the outstanding lease liability at the
beginning of each lease payment period.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis which reflects the pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased assets are consumed.

(k) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets

Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-current asset exceeds
recoverable amount. In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the expected net cash flows have not been
discounted to their present value.

(l) Investments

Investments in wholly owned controlled entities are recorded at the lower of cost or recoverable value determined by
reference to the net tangible assets of the relevant wholly owned controlled entity. Other investments are recorded at cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m)Accounts Payable

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

(n) Interest-Bearing Liabilities

Bills of exchange are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received, with the premium or discount amortised over
the period until maturity. Interest expense is recognised on an effective yield basis.

Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Interest expense is recognised on
an accrual basis.

(o) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement.

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the statement of financial 
position classification of the related debt or equity instruments.

(p) Acquisition of Assets

Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as at the date of
acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition.

(q) Goodwill

Goodwill, representing the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, 
is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 20 years.

(r) Goods & Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of an asset or part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating
cash flows.

(s) Capital Gains Tax

No provision has been made for capital gains tax which may arise in the event of sale of revalued assets as no decision has
been made to sell any of these assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

(t) Changes in Accounting Policies

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In accordance with Accounting Policy AASB 1028 'Employees Benefits', on 1 April 2003 the consolidated entity changed its
policy for recognising employee liabilities. Previously, the consolidated entity measured the provision for employee benefits
based on remuneration rates at balance date. In accordance with the requirements of the revised Standard, the provision for
employee benefits is now measured based on the remuneration rates expected to apply at the time of settlement. The effect
of this change in accounting policy upon the consolidated entity is to increase current provisions (employee benefits) by
$147,000, decrease tax liabilities by $51,000, and decrease opening retained profits by $96,000. For the company, the effect
of this change was to decrease current provisions by $137,000, to decrease tax liabilities by $53,000, and decrease opening
retained profits by $84,000. As this change in accounting policy was not material the financial impact has not been separately
disclosed on the statement of financial performance.

PROVISION FOR DIVIDENDS

In accordance with Accounting Policy AASB 1044 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets', on 1 April 2003
the consolidated entity changed its policy for providing for dividends. Previously, the consolidated entity recognised a
provision for dividend based on the amount that was proposed or declared after the reporting date. In accordance with the
requirements of the Standard, a provision for dividend is recognised when the directors have declared, determined or publicly
recommended the dividend. The effect of this change in accounting policy is to decrease current provisions (dividends) by
$3,357,000 and increase opening retained profits by $3,357,000.

DIRECTORS' AND EXECUTIVES' REMUNERATION

The Directors have elected under s.334(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 to apply Accounting Standard AASB 1046 "Director
and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities" for this financial year, even though the Standard is not required to be applied
until annual reporting periods ending on or after 30 June 2004. This Standard replaces the disclosures in relation to directors
and executives specified by section 4 of AASB 1017 "Related Party Disclosures" and section 6 of AASB 1034 "Financial Report
Presentation and Disclosures", including removing the requirements for banded disclosure of remuneration for directors and
executives of disclosing entities. This change in accounting policy has no effect upon the operating results or the financial
position of the consolidated entity.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Directors have elected under s.334(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 to apply Accounting Standard AASB 1047 "Disclosing
the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards" for this financial year, even
though the Standard is not required to be applied until annual reporting periods ending on or after 30 June 2004. The narrative
explanation of the impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards is included as part
of Note 42 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax includes the
following items of revenue and expenses:

(a) Operating Revenue

Sales revenue

Rendering of Services:

Invoiced 190,641 166,402 131,827 112,258 

Not Yet Invoiced

- Increase in amounts recoverable 6,772 5,975 965 2,004 

- Work in progress 6,481 10,887 5,170 9,210 

203,894 183,264 137,962 123,472 

Interest revenue

- wholly owned controlled entities - - 57 17 

- other entities 102 88 91 75 

102 88 148 92 

Other income 283 481 213 222 

Total Operating Revenue 204,279 183,833 138,323 123,786 

(b) Non-Operating Revenue

Proceeds from sale of assets

Non-current (Note 3)

- Property, plant & equipment 1,589 1,280 1,227 620 

1,589 1,280 1,227 620 

Reversal of prior period recoverable value write-down

- Investments - - 736 189 

Total Non-Operating Revenue 1,589 1,280 1,963 809 

Revenue From Ordinary Activities 205,868 185,113 140,286 124,595 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

(c) Expenses

Borrowing costs

Interest:

- Other entities 1,766 2,323 1,204 1,642 

- Finance lease finance charges 902 909 505 508 

2,668 3,232 1,709 2,150 

Net bad and doubtful debts arising from:

- Other entities 326 155 295 85 

Depreciation of non-current assets

- Property, plant and equipment 3,218 6,403 2,000 3,850 

Amortisation of non-current assets

- Finance lease assets 3,427 71 2,032 67 

- Goodwill 144 144 - - 

3,571 215 2,032 67 

Net transfers to provisions

- Employee benefits 1,028 735 966 621 

Operating lease rental expense

- Minimum lease payments 1,226 1,375 583 547 

3. SALE OF ASSETS

Sales of assets in the ordinary course of business 
have given rise to the following profits and losses:

Net Profits

Property, plant & equipment 687 399 608 296 

Net Losses

Property, plant & equipment 172 157 91 63 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

4. INCOME TAX

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax 
accounting profit reconciles to the income tax 
expense in the financial statements as follows:

Profit from Ordinary Activities 24,025 21,049 15,800 13,222 

Income tax expense calculated
at 30% 7,207 6,315 4,740 3,967 

Permanent differences:

Amortisation of intangibles 43 43 - - 

Non-deductible expenses 257 269 236 252 

Write-back of diminution of investment - - (221) (57)

Effect of different rates of tax
on overseas income 246 171 - - 

546 483 15 195 

(Over)/Under provision of income tax in previous year (19) (68) (19) 23 

527 415 (4) 218 

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 7,734 6,730 4,736 4,185 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its wholly-owned Australian resident wholly-owned entities, to elect to
consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October, 2002. The impact
of the mandatory elements of the tax consolidation system on existing deferred tax balances of the consolidated entity and parent
entity has been reflected in the financial statements.

The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are eligible to consolidate for tax purposes under this legislation. At
the date of this report the directors have not assessed the financial effect, if any, the legislation may have on the company and the
consolidated entity and, accordingly, the directors have not made a decision whether or not to elect to be taxed as a single entity.
The financial effect of the implementation of the elective elements of the tax consolidation system on the consolidated entity has
not been recognised in the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

5. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The specified directors of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited during the year were:

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson Chairman, non-executive

Maxwell John Findlay Managing Director

Susan Mary Oliver Non-executive

Brian John Pollock Non-executive

Primary Post Employment Equity

Salary Bonus Non- Super- Prescribed Other Options Other TOTAL
& Fees Monetary annuation Benefits Benefits

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors

G.A. Tomlinson 116,620 - - 9,675 - - 2,798 - 129,093

S.M. Oliver 73,433 - - 6,375 - - 2,332 - 82,140

B.J. Pollock 73,433 - - 6,375 - - 2,332 - 82,140

Managing Director

M.J. Findlay 275,924 226,075 67,244 90,147 - - 11,658 - 671,048

Totals 539,410 226,075 67,244 112,572 - - 19,120 - 964,421

Specified directors' and specified executives' remuneration

The Board Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration packages of all specified directors and specified executives 
(Note 6) on an annual basis. Remuneration packages are reviewed and determined with due regard to current market rates and
benchmarked against comparable industry salaries, adjusted by a performance factor to reflect changes in the performance of 
the company.

Remuneration packages of specified directors and specified executives contain the following key elements:

a. Primary Benefits - salaries/fees, bonuses and non-monetary benefits including the provision of motor vehicles and 
health benefits;

b. Post Employments Benefits - including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits;

c. Equity - share options granted under the directors and executive share option plan as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial
statements. The value of the share options granted is allocated proportionately to reporting periods between grant date and
date of expiry; and

d. Other benefits.

The difference between the total market value of options issued during a financial year at the date of issue, and the total amount
received from directors and executives is not recognised in the financial statements except for the purposes of determining
specified directors' and specified employees' remuneration in respect of that financial year as disclosed in Notes 5 and 6 to the
financial statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect of the financial years over which the entitlement 
was earned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

6. EXECUTIVES' REMUNERATION

The specified executives of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited during the year were:

Ian Howard Jones General Manager, Finance & Administration

Ian William Craig Group General Manager, Operations

Bryan Julius Horskins General Manager, Retail & Corporate Imaging

Paul Robert Warman General Manager, Northern Region

Mark Peter Piwkowski General Manager, Building Services

Primary Post Employment Equity

Salary Bonus Non- Super- Prescribed Other Options Other TOTAL
& Fees Monetary annuation Benefits Benefits

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

I.H. Jones 226,012 58,000 16,900 24,460 - - 28,310 - 353,682

I.W. Craig 190,369 45,200 61,664 51, 950 - - 9,326 - 358,509

B.J. Horskins 166,563 41,400 28,250 34,900 - - 6,995 - 278,108

M.P. Piwkowski 106,699 27,600 58,230 34,989 - - 3,497 - 231,015

P.R. Warman 142,677 23,700 30,106 23,153 - - 3,497 - 223,133

Totals 832,320 195,900 195,150 169,452 - - 51,625 - 1,444,447

Each of the specified executives received the cash bonus shown in the above table in July 2003. These bonuses were paid
following the achievement of key performance targets, including the achievement of budgeted profit, in accordance with the
bonus plan applying to company staff. Participants must have been employed by the company for the full financial year to
qualify for the bonus.

040_ANNUAL REPORT 2004 PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

7. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has a share option scheme for directors and senior executives. Each share option upon exercise becomes one fully
paid ordinary share in Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipients on receipt of
the share option.

In accordance with the provisions of the scheme, as approved by shareholders' consent, certain directors, senior executives 
and employees have been offered and accepted options which can be exercised between the period 29 September 2001 and 
29 September 2006. The options are offered at the discretion of the board, with the issue price of an option to equal or exceed 
the market price of one fully paid ordinary share on the date the option is granted.

2004 2003

No. No.

Balance at beginning of the financial year (i) 2,270,000 1,950,000

Granted during the financial year (ii) - 320,000

Exercised during the financial year (iii) (736,000) - 

Lapsed during the financial year (iv) (122,000) - 

Balance at end of the financial year (v) 1,412,000 2,270,000

(i) Balance at beginning of the financial year Expiry/ Exercise 
No. Vesting Exercise Price 

Options - Series Date Date $ 

(1) Granted 29 September, 1999 780,000 29.09.01 29.09.03 2.00

(2) Granted 29 September, 1999 585,000 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.00

(3) Granted 29 September, 1999 585,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.00

(4) Granted 8 May, 2002 128,000 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.49

(5) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.54

(6) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.04 29.09.06 2.57 

2,270,000 

(ii) Granted during the financial year

No share options were granted during the financial year. The details of the share options granted in 2003 were:-

Expiry/ Exercise Fair Value Fair Value
No. Vesting Exercise Price received per option

Options - Series Date Date $ $ at Grant date 

(4) Granted 8 May, 2002 128,000 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.49 - 0.38

(5) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.54 - 0.46

(6) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.04 29.09.06 2.57 - 0.55

320,000 - 
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

7. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(iii) Exercised during the financial year

Fair Value 
Fair of shares 

No. of Expiry/ Exercise No. of Value at date 
Options Vesting Exercise Price Shares Received of issue

Options - Series Exercised Date Date $ Issued $ $ 

(1) Granted 29 Sept.,1999 736,000 29.09.01 29.09.03 2.00 736,000 1,472,000 1,759,040 

The fair value of shares at date of exercise was determined by using the market price of the company's ordinary shares on 
29 September 2003. At this date, the market price was $2.39 per share. No share options were exercised during the previous
financial year.

(iv) Lapsed during the financial year

Options - Series 2004 2003

No. No.

(1) Granted 29 September, 1999 44,000 - 

(2) Granted 29 September, 1999 39,000 - 

(3) Granted 29 September, 1999 39,000 - 

122,000 - 

(v) Balance at end of the financial year 2004

Expiry/ Exercise
No Vested Unvested Vesting Exercise Price 

Options - Series No No Date Date  $ 

(2) Granted 29 September, 1999 546,000 546,000 - 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.00 

(3) Granted 29 September, 1999 546,000 546,000 - 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.00 

(4) Granted 8 May, 2002 128,000 128,000 - 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.49 

(5) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 96,000 - 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.54 

(6) Granted 8 May, 2002 96,000 - 96,000 29.09.04 29.09.06 2.57 

1,412,000 1,316,000 96,000 

Executive share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.

The market price of the company's ordinary shares at 31 March 2004 was $2.60.

042_ANNUAL REPORT 2004 PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

8. CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 40,047 35,073 26,512 21,841 

Allowance for doubtful debts (1,100) (1,034) (582) (530)

38,947 34,039 25,930 21,311 

Contracts in progress at recoverable value 57,807 55,772 42,353 41,259 

96,754 89,811 68,283 62,570 

9. CURRENT INVENTORIES

At cost:

Raw materials and stores 904 890 584 675 

Finished goods 24 166 24 166 

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress 12,050 7,660 10,459 6,819 

12,978 8,716 11,067 7,660 

10. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-trade receivables from:

Wholly owned controlled entities - - 2,023 2,488 

- - 2,023 2,488 

11. CURRENT TAX ASSETS

Income tax receivable 245 28 - - 

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 2,895 3,088 1,875 2,027 

Other 899 548 494 298 

3,794 3,636 2,369 2,325 

13. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Contracts in progress at recoverable value 73,535 70,807 46,455 46,584 

14. NON-CURRENT INVENTORIES

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress 7,300 5,310 5,838 4,308 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

15. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

At cost:

Shares in controlled entities - - 8,099 8,099 

At recoverable amount:

Shares in controlled entities - - 4,121 3,385 

Non-trade receivables from:

Wholly-owned controlled entities - - 1,754 400 

Related parties - share option scheme 282 426 282 425 

282 426 14,256 12,309 

16. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Consolidated 

Freehold Leasehold Equipment
Land and Improvements Plant and under Finance
Buildings Buildings Equipment Lease
(at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) TOTAL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2003 3,138 173 22,965 20,831 47,107 

Additions - 69 3,543 6,052 9,664 

Disposals (433) - (3,447) (1,272) (5,152)

Transfers - - 6,316 (6,316) - 

Net foreign exchange (25) (8) (142) (236) (411)

Balance at 31 March 2004 2,680 234 29,235 19,059 51,208 

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2003 (329) (95) (17,272) (10,382) (28,078)

Disposals 61 - 3,046 972 4,079 

Depreciation expense (40) (25) (3,153) (3,427) (6,645)

Transfers - - (4,893) 4,893 - 

Net foreign exchange 2 6 100 130 238 

Balance at 31 March 2004 (306) (114) (22,172) (7,814) (30,406)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2003 2,809 78 5,693 10,449 19,029 

As at 31 March 2004 2,374 120 7,063 11,245 20,802 
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Company 

Freehold Leasehold Equipment
Land and Improvements Plant and under Finance
Buildings Buildings Equipment Lease
(at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) TOTAL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2003 2,799 65 15,318 10,413 28,595 

Additions - 58 1,142 3,027 4,227 

Disposals (433) - (2,619) (490) (3,542)

Transfers - - 2,657 (2,657) - 

Balance at 31 March 2004 2,366 123 16,498 10,293 29,280 

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2003 (309) (22) (12,533) (4,799) (17,663)

Disposals 61 - 2,407 364 2,832 

Depreciation expense (33) (16) (1,951) (2,032) (4,032)

Transfers - - (1,938) 1,938 - 

Balance at 31 March 2004 (281) (38) (14,015) (4,529) (18,863)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2003 2,490 43 2,785 5,614 10,932 

As at 31 March 2004 2,085 85 2,483 5,764 10,417 
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16. PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Aggregated depreciation allocated, whether
recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of
the carrying amount of other assets during the year:

Freehold land and buildings 40 45 33 36 

Leasehold improvements 25 12 16 5 

Plant and equipment 3,153 2,726 1,951 1,618 

Equipment under finance lease 3,427 3,691 2,032 2,258 

6,645 6,474 4,032 3,917 

Current Value of Freehold Land and Buildings

Value of freehold land and buildings determined in
accordance with independent valuations on the basis
of current market buying values, performed in 2002. 3,744 4,144 3,405 3,805 

17. INTANGIBLES

Goodwill 2,870 2,870 - - 

Accumulated amortisation (535) (391) - - 

2,335 2,479 - - 

Aggregated amortisation allocated, whether
recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of
the carrying amount of other assets during the year:
Goodwill 144 144 - - 

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Future income tax benefits attributable to:-

Timing differences 3,305 2,902 2,764 2,492 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

19. CONTRACTS AND WORK IN PROGRESS AT RECOVERABLE VALUE

Contracts in Progress

Balance at beginning of year 126,579 116,884 87,843 85,839 

Increase in amounts recoverable (Note 2) 6,772 5,975 965 2,004 

Effect of foreign currency movements (2,009) 3,720 - - 

Balance at end of year 131,342 126,579 88,808 87,843 

Shown in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 8) 57,807 55,772 42,353 41,259 

Non-Current (Note 13) 73,535 70,807 46,455 46,584 

131,342 126,579 88,808 87,843 

Work in Progress

Balance at beginning of year 12,970 1,711 11,127 1,917 

Increase in amounts recoverable (Note 2) 6,481 10,887 5,170 9,210 

Effect of foreign currency movements (101) 372 - - 

Balance at end of year 19,350 12,970 16,297 11,127 

Shown in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 9) 12,050 7,660 10,459 6,819 

Non-Current (Note 14) 7,300 5,310 5,838 4,308 

19,350 12,970 16,297 11,127 

Total Contracts and Work in Progress

Shown in the financial statements as:

Current 69,857 63,432 52,812 48,078 

Non-Current 80,835 76,117 52,293 50,892 

150,692 139,549 105,105 98,970 

20. CURRENT PAYABLES

Trade payables 7,984 5,740 5,321 3,460 

Accruals and Sundry Creditors 15,378 11,396 11,204 7,839 

23,362 17,136 16,525 11,299 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

21. CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Unsecured :

Non-trade payables to:

Other loans - 27 - 1 

Secured:

Bank overdraft (a) 1,988 1,257 65 588 

Finance lease liabilities (b) (Note 31) 3,543 4,697 2,258 2,635 

5,531 5,954 2,323 3,223 

5,531 5,981 2,323 3,224 

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party 
Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed Maintenance 
Services Limited, Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited, 
Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited and Programmed 
Maintenance Services (UK) Limited as security for advances made 
and/or guarantees given by the Bank.

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets, the current market value 
of which exceeds the value of the finance lease liabilities.

22. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

Income tax payable 2,845 424 2,493 276 

23. CURRENT PROVISIONS

Dividends - 3,357 - 3,357 

Employee benefits (note 27) 5,598 4,638 4,966 4,068 

Other 32 19 - - 

5,630 8,014 4,966 7,425 

24. NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Secured:

Bank loans (a) 29,630 37,489 21,500 27,400 

Finance lease liabilities (b) (Note 31) 8,636 6,402 4,786 4,394 

38,266 43,891 26,286 31,794 

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party 
Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed Maintenance 
Services Limited, Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited, 
Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited and Programmed 
Maintenance Services (UK) Limited as security for advances made 
and/or guarantees given by the Bank.

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets, the current market value 
of which exceeds the value of the finance lease liabilities.
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax 44,344 41,994 31,710 30,108 

26. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Employee benefits (note 27) 522 454 481 413 

Related parties - share option scheme 282 425 282 425 

804 879 763 838 

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The aggregate employee benefit liability
recognised and included in the financial
statements is as follows:-

Provision for employee benefits:-

Current (Note 23) 5,598 4,638 4,966 4,068 

Non-current (Note 26) 522 454 481 413 

6,120 5,092 5,447 4,481 

Number of employees at end
of financial year 1,340 1,230 861 822 

28. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

68,800,123 fully paid ordinary shares 
(2003: 67,141,771) 21,082 17,406 21,082 17,406 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share
and carry the right to dividends.

2004 2003

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares No.'000 $'000 No.'000 $'000 

Balance at beginning of financial year 67,142 17,406 64,500 12,201 

Issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan

25 July 2002, DRP share price of $2.18 - - 784 1,708 

24 January 2003, DRP share price of $1.80 - - 821 1,479 

24 July 2003, DRP share price of $2.16 507 1,096 - - 

23 January 2004, DRP share price of $2.67 415 1,108 - - 

Issue of new shares 736 1,472 1,037 2,018 

Balance at end of financial year 68,800 21,082 67,142 17,406 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

29. RESERVES

Foreign currency translation 1,160 2,408 - - 

Capital profits reserve 5,535 5,535 5,535 5,535 

6,695 7,943 5,535 5,535 

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,408 (27) - - 

Translation of foreign operations (1,248) 2,435 - - 

Balance at end of financial year 1,160 2,408 - - 

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency 
monetary items forming part of the net investment 
in self-sustaining foreign operations and the translation 
of self-sustaining foreign controlled entities are brought 
to account by entries made directly to the foreign 
currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(f). 

Capital profits reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year 5,535 5,535 5,535 5,535 

Balance at end of financial year 5,535 5,535 5,535 5,535 

The capital profits reserve relates to profits realised
on the sale of non-current assets.

30. RETAINED PROFITS

Balance at beginning of financial year 62,396 54,061 46,598 43,545 

Adjustments to opening retained profits on initial adoption
of AASB 1028 'Employee Benefits' (Note 1 (t)) (96) - (84) - 

Adjustments to opening retained profits on initial adoption
of AASB 1044 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets' (Note 1(t))
Write-back of prior year dividend provision 3,357 - 3,357 - 

Profit from ordinary activities after
related income tax expense 16,291 14,319 11,064 9,037 

Dividends provided for or paid (7,118) (5,984) (7,118) (5,984)

Balance at end of financial year 74,830 62,396 53,817 46,598 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

Finance lease liabilities:

No later than 1 year 4,209 5,171 2,661 3,006 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9,209 6,759 5,072 4,673 

Minimum lease payments 13,418 11,930 7,733 7,679 
Less future finance charges (1,239) (831) (689) (650)

Present Value of minimum lease payments 12,179 11,099 7,044 7,029 

Included in the financial statements as:
Current interest bearing liabilities (Note 21) 3,543 4,697 2,258 2,635 
Non-current interest bearing liabilities (Note 24) 8,636 6,402 4,786 4,394 

12,179 11,099 7,044 7,029 

The hire purchase and finance lease arrangements are generally made 
for a three year period and are secured by a charge over the related
assets. The consolidated entity and the company have the option to 
purchase the related assets at the conclusion of the finance leases.

32. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and Equipment

Not longer than 1 year 2,391 503 1,311 388 

(b) Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 1,065 1,184 422 435 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 984 1,027 593 224 

2,049 2,211 1,015 659 

4,440 2,714 2,326 1,047 

The operating leases relate to office and warehouse facilities 
with lease terms not exceeding five years. Most of the leases 
have options to extend for further periods of similar duration, 
with market review clauses in the event that the consolidated 
entity and the company exercise the options to renew. The 
consolidated entity and the company do not have the option to 
purchase the related assets at the expiry of the lease period.

(c) Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 31 to the 
financial statements.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Significant accounting policies

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each significant class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

(b) Interest rate risk

The following table details the consolidated entity's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2004.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Average Variable Less More Non-
Interest Interest than 1 1 to 5 than 5 Interest

2004 Rate Rate Year Years Years Bearing Total

% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets

Cash 4.70 2,000 - - - 59 2,059

Trade receivables - - - - 38,947 38,947

Contracts in progress
at recoverable value - - - - 131,342 131,342

Work-in-progress - - - - 19,350 19,350

Other receivables - - - - 1,181 1,181

2,000 - - - 190,879 192,879

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables - - - - 23,362 23,362

Bank Overdraft 6.03 1,988 - - - - 1,988 

Bank Bills 4.62 - 25,435 - - - 25,435 

Bank Loan 5.10 - 4,196 - - - 4,196 

Finance Lease Liabilities 7.34 - 3,543 8,636 - - 12,179 

Provisions - - - - 282 282 

Employee Entitlements - - - - 6,120 6,120 

1,988 33,174 8,636 - 29,764 73,562 
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The following table details the consolidated entity's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2003.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Average Variable Less More Non-
Interest Interest than 1 1 to 5 than 5 Interest

2003 Rate Rate Year Years Years Bearing Total

% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets

Cash 4.51 2,876 - - - 44 2,920 

Trade receivables - - - - 34,039 34,039 

Contracts in progress
at recoverable value - - - - 126,579 126,579 

Work-in-progress - - - - 12,969 12,969 

Other receivables - - - - 974 974 

2,876 - - - 174,605 177,481 

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables - - - - 17,136 17,136 

Bank Overdraft 7.90 1,257 - - - - 1,257 

Bank Bills 5.14 - 32,922 - - - 32,922 

Bank Loan 5.10 - 4,567 - - - 4,567 

Finance Lease Liabilities 7.35 - 4,697 6,402 - - 11,099 

Provisions - - - - 425 425 

Employee Entitlements - - - - 5,092 5,092 

Dividend - - - - 3,357 3,357 

Other - - - - 27 27

1,257 42,186 6,402 - 26,037 75,882 
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Net fair value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates 
their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 of the 
financial statements.

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a company will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and
obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. The consolidated entity measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. The total credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets recorded 
in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, before any value for collateral or other security held.

Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$   $   $   $   

34. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

(a) Auditor of parent entity

Auditing the financial report 140,770 151,340 118,770 125,740 

Other services 80,000 23,269 80,000 16,669 

220,770 174,609 198,770 142,409 

(b) Other Auditors

Auditing the financial report 67,777 78,148 - - 

Other services 31,250 30,332 - - 

99,027 108,480 - - 

319,797 283,089 198,770 142,409 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

35. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes
cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market
instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at the
end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash
flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of 
financial position as follows:

Cash 2,059 2,920 2,028 2,835 

Bank overdraft (1,988) (1,257) (65) (588)

71 1,663 1,963 2,247 

(b) Financing facilities

1. Credit standby arrangements

(a) Secured bill acceptance facilities with various
maturity dates, expiring September 2006.

- amount used 29,630 37,489 21,500 27,400 

- amount unused 13,722 6,583 10,500 4,600 

43,352 44,072 32,000 32,000 

(b) Secured bank overdraft facilities with various
maturity dates up to September 2004, payable at call.

- amount used 1,988 1,257 65 588 

- amount unused 969 2,298 935 412 

2,957 3,555 1,000 1,000 
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Consolidated Company 

2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

35. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

2. Bank guarantee loan facilities

- amount used 728 703 660 627 

- amount unused 102 127 120 153 

830 830 780 780 

(c) Reconciliation of Profit from Ordinary Activities
after Related Income Tax to Net Cash Flows from 
Operating Activities

Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax 16,291 14,319 11,064 9,037 

Write back of investment in subsidiary company - - (736) (189)

Profit on sale of non current assets (515) (242) (517) (233)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 6,789 6,618 4,032 3,917 

(Increase)/Decrease in current tax assets (220) 505 - 524 

Increase/(Decrease) in current tax liability 2,428 (679) 2,217 276 

Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax balances 2,531 4,474 1,330 2,815 

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from
acquisition and disposal of businesses:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

current receivables (8,217) (1,837) (5,713) (13)

current inventories (6,366) (11,818) (4,937) (10,210)

other current assets (164) 87 (44) 24 

non-current receivables (3,986) (4,426) 129 (1,852)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

current payables 6,436 5,181 5,226 3,890 

current provisions 886 569 815 466 

other current liabilities - 45 - - 

non-current trade payables - - - - 

non-current provisions 66 134 67 155 

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 15,959 12,930 12,933 8,607 

(d) Non-cash financing and investing activities

Aggregate amount of property, plant and equipment 
acquired during the financial year by entering into 
hire purchase agreements and finance leases. These 
acquisitions are not reflected in the statement of cash flows 6,052 3,112 3,027 2,184 
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2004 2003 

Cents per share Cents per share

36. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 23.9 21.8 

Diluted earnings per share 23.9 21.8 

Basic Earnings per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 

Earnings 16,291 14,319 

2004 2003 

No.'000 No.'000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 68,073 65,624 

The share options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share. These securities have been included in the determination of
diluted earnings per share on the basis that each share option will convert to one ordinary share.

Diluted Earnings per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per
share are as follows:

2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 

Earnings 16,291 14,319 

2004 2003 

No.'000 No.'000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares 68,275 65,740 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

No.'000 No.'000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of basic EPS 68,073 65,624 

Employee options 202 116 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS 68,275 65,740 

PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2004_057



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

37. CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation Ownership Interest

2004 2003

% %

Parent Entity

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited Australia

Controlled Entities

Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited Australia 100 100 

Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited (a) New Zealand 100 100 

PMS Share Schemes Administration Pty Ltd. Australia 100 100 

PMS Building Services Pty. Ltd. Australia 100 100 

Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Group Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Northern Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Nottingham Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Bonds Painting Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Brian Parry Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

(a) The controlled entity carries on business in New Zealand and is audited by an associated firm of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia.

(b) These controlled entities carry on business in the United Kingdom and are audited by associated firms of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia.

No controlled entity was acquired or disposed of during the financial year.
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38. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS

Segment Revenues

External Sales

Property Maintenance Industrial Other Total
Services Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Australia 137,871 123,397 18,382 16,655 1,940 1,137 158,193 141,189 

New Zealand 29,052 25,317 - - 8 685 29,060 26,002 

United Kingdom 18,487 17,808 - - 26 27 18,513 17,835 

Total of all segments 205,766 185,026 

Unallocated 102 87 

Consolidated 205,868 185,113 

Segment Results

Property Maintenance Industrial Total
Services Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Australia 18,415 16,547 555 280 18,970 16,827 

New Zealand 8,475 7,953 - - 8,475 7,953 

United Kingdom 154 676 - - 154 676 

Total of all segments 27,599 25,456 

Unallocated (906) (1,175)

Profit from ordinary activities before interest and income tax expense 26,693 24,281 

Net borrowing and financing charges (2,668) (3,232)

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense 24,025 21,049 

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities (7,734) (6,730)

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 16,291 14,319 
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38. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Segment Assets

Property Maintenance Industrial Total
Services Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Australia 144,372 134,824 12,310 10,297 156,682 145,121 

New Zealand 48,985 45,419 - - 48,985 45,419 

United Kingdom 11,757 9,778 - - 11,757 9,778 

Total of all segments 217,424 200,318 

Unallocated 5,965 5,746 

Consolidated 223,389 206,064 

Segment Liabilities

Property Maintenance Industrial Total
Services Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Australia 19,577 16,275 2,050 2,265 21,627 18,540 

New Zealand 3,504 2,756 - - 3,504 2,756 

United Kingdom 3,798 2,141 - - 3,798 2,141 

Total of all segments 28,929 23,437 

Unallocated 91,853 94,882 

Consolidated 120,782 118,319 
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

Other Segment Information

Property Maintenance Industrial Total
Services Services

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Acquisition of segment assets

Australia 1,200 1,650 1,816 1,982 3,016 3,632 

New Zealand 525 143 - - 525 143 

United Kingdom 75 82 - - 75 82 

3,616 3,857 

Depreciation and amortisation of segment assets

Australia 3,124 3,232 1,794 1,780 4,918 5,012 

New Zealand 383 411 - - 383 411 

United Kingdom 580 510 - - 580 510 

5,881 5,933 

Unallocated 908 685 

6,789 6,618 

Other non-cash expenses

Australia 1,261 705 (12) 50 1,249 755 

New Zealand 33 97 - - 33 97 

United Kingdom 73 33 - - 73 33 

1,354 885 

The consolidated entity operates in three principal geographic locations - Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. The
composition of each geographical segment is as follows:

Australia - Property maintenance services includes maintenance painting, corporate signage, grounds
maintenance and building services

- Industrial services includes sewerage and drainage maintenance, vacuum loading, high pressure
cleaning and non-destructive digging

New Zealand - Property maintenance services - maintenance painting

United Kingdom - Property maintenance services - maintenance painting
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2004

39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Equity interests in controlled entities

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in the controlled entities are disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements.

(b) Specified directors' and specified executives' remuneration

Details of the specified directors' remuneration are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Details of the specified executives' remuneration are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

(c) Equity holdings of specified directors and specified executives

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Granted Received on Net Balance
Balance as exercise other Balance held 
1.4.03 remuneration of options change 31.3.04 nominally

No. No. No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

G.A. Tomlinson 100,000 - 24,000 - 124,000 124,000 

M.J. Findlay 1,000,000 - 100,000 (93,325) 1,006,675 - 

S.M. Oliver 2,400 - 20,000 (9,746) 12,654 12,654 

B.J. Pollock - - 20,000 (18,665) 1,335 - 

Specified Executives

I.H. Jones 5,000 - - - 5,000 5,000 

I.W. Craig 138,136 - 80,000 (71,531) 146,605 37,632 

B.J. Horskins 53,493 - 60,000 (49,784) 63,709 5,000 

P.R. Warman 21,703 - 30,000 (29,496) 22,207 - 

M.P. Piwkowski 32,194 - 30,000 (27,268) 34,926 - 

1,352,926 - 364,000 (299,815) 1,417,111 184,286 
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(ii) Share options issued by Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Granted  
Balance as Exercised Other Balance
1.4.03 remuneration change 31.3.04

No. No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

G.A. Tomlinson 60,000 - 24,000 - 36,000 

M.J. Findlay 250,000 - 100,000 - 150,000 

S.M. Oliver 50,000 - 20,000 - 30,000 

B.J. Pollock 50,000 - 20,000 - 30,000 

Specified Executives

I.H. Jones 200,000 - - - 200,000 

I.W. Craig 200,000 - 80,000 - 120,000 

B.J. Horskins 150,000 - 60,000 - 90,000 

P.R. Warman 75,000 - 30,000 - 45,000 

M.P. Piwkowski 75,000 - 30,000 - 45,000 

1,110,000 - 364,000 - 746,000 

Options
Balance Vested Vested vested 
vested at but not and during
31.3.04 exercisable exercisable year

No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

G.A. Tomlinson 36,000 - 36,000 18,000 

M.J. Findlay 150,000 - 150,000 75,000 

S.M. Oliver 30,000 - 30,000 15,000 

B.J. Pollock 30,000 - 30,000 15,000 

Specified Executives

I.H. Jones 200,000 60,000 140,000 60,000 

I.W. Craig 120,000 - 120,000 60,000 

B.J. Horskins 90,000 - 90,000 45,000 

P.R. Warman 45,000 - 45,000 22,500 

M.P. Piwkowski 45,000 - 45,000 22,500 

746,000 60,000 686,000 333,000 
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Other transactions with specified directors and specified executives

During the financial year, the specified directors, their director-related entities and the specified executives purchased goods,
which were domestic or trivial in nature, from the company on the same terms and conditions available to other employees
and customers.

(e) Transactions with entities in the wholly-owned group

The wholly-owned group includes:

- the ultimate Parent Entity in the wholly-owned group 

- wholly-owned controlled entities

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Programmed Maintenance Services Limited.

Details of interest revenue derived by the parent entity from wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2 to the
financial statements. Details of interest expense in respect of transactions with wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed
in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Amounts receivable from wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Notes 10 and 15 to the financial statements.

Other transactions that occurred during the financial year between entities in the wholly-owned group were:

- accounting and administrative services

- management fees

- reimbursement for expenses incurred

(f) Transactions with other related parties 

Other related parties include directors of related parties, their director-related entities and other related parties.

Details of interest expense in respect of transactions with other related parties are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in Notes 10 and 15 to the financial statements. Related party provisions are
disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statements.

40. DIVIDENDS

2004 2003

Cents Cents 
per per

Share Total Share Total

$'000 $'000 

Recognised Amounts

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Interim Dividend 

- franked to 50% at 30% tax rate 5.5 3,761 - - 

- franked to 30% at 30% tax rate - - 4.0 2,627 

Final Dividend 

- franked to 50% at 30% tax rate 5.0 3,357 5.0 3,357 

7,118 5,984 
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2004 2003

Cents Cents 
per per

Share Total Share Total

$'000 $'000 

Unrecognised Amounts

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Final Dividend 

- franked to 50% at 30% tax rate 6.5 4,472 - - 

4,472 - 

Company 

2004 2003 

$'000 $'000 

Adjusted Franking Account Balance (tax paid basis) 427 805 

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee by the company of bank overdrafts 2,500 2,500 

Guarantee by the company of lease liabilities 3,926 2,954 

Bank guarantee loan facility 728 703 

The company has provided performance and security guarantees to its bankers in accordance with certain contractual
requirements (Refer Notes 21 and 24).

The directors are not aware of any other contingent liabilities.

42. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a) Since the end of the financial year, the consolidated entity has entered into an agreement with Serco Australia Pty. Ltd. to
purchase several integrated services contracts. The transfer of these contracts is subject to the consent of the customers. 
It is expected that these contracts will be transferred to Programmed Maintenance Services by 1 July 2004. These contracts,
which provide annual revenue of over $25 million, are projected to make a small contribution to earnings in the 2005 
financial year.

Apart from the above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the company, to affect
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity in subsequent financial periods.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(b) For reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005, the consolidated entity must comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The first reporting period that the
consolidated entity will be reporting under IFRS will be the half-year commencing on 1 April 2005 and ending on 30
September 2005, with the first financial year that the consolidated entity will be reporting under IFRS being the year ending
31st March 2006.

This financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian accounting standards and other Australian financial 
reporting requirements ("Australian GAAP"). The differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS identified to date as potentially
having a significant effect on the consolidated entity's financial performance and financial position are summarised below.
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42. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED)

The summary below should not be taken as an exhaustive list of all the differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS. No
attempt has been made to identify all disclosure, presentation or classification differences that would affect the manner in
which transactions or events are presented. The consolidated entity has not quantified the effects of the differences discussed
below. Accordingly, there can be no assurances that the consolidated financial performance and financial position as disclosed
in this financial report would not be significantly different if determined in accordance with IFRS.

The regulatory bodies that promulgate IFRS have significant ongoing projects that could affect the differences between
Australian GAAP and IFRS described below and the impact of these differences relative to the consolidated entity's financial
reports in the future.

The potential impacts on the consolidated entity's financial performance and financial position from the adoption of IFRS,
including system upgrades and implementation costs which may be incurred, have not been quantified as the actual impacts
will depend on the particular circumstances prevailing on adoption in the half year commencing on 1 April 2005.

At the date of this report, the key potential implications of the adoption of IFRS on the consolidated entity are:-

- income tax will be calculated based on the "balance sheet" approach, which will result in changes to the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities and, as tax effects follow the underlying transaction, some tax effects will be
recognised in equity;

- revaluation increments and decrements relating to revalued property, plant and equipment and intangible assets will be
recognised on an individual asset basis, not a class of assets basis; 

- goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will be tested for impairment annually and will not be amortised;

- impairments of assets will be determined on a discounted basis, with strict tests for determining whether goodwill has
been impaired; 

- equity-based compensation in the form of shares and options will be recognised as expenses in the periods during
which the relevant employees provide related services; and

- changes in accounting policies will be recognised by restating comparatives rather than making current year
adjustments with note disclosure of prior year effects.

At the date of this report, the consolidated entity expects that its current policy of revenue recognition, including the recording
at fair value of the revenue earned for the reporting period and Contracts in Progress at Recoverable Value at the reporting
date (set out in Note 1(a)), will continue to apply after the adoption of IFRS.

The company is in the initial stages of the implementation project and is in the process of establishing a finance committee to 
oversee convergence to International Financial Reporting Standards.

43. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in Notes 21 and 24 to the financial statements, effectively
all assets of the economic entity have been pledged as security, except goodwill and future income tax benefits.

44. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is a listed public company, incorporated and operating in Australia, New Zealand and
the United Kingdom.

Principal Registered Office: 52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley, Victoria, 3149
Telephone: (03) 9562 8033

Principal Place of Business: 52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley, Victoria, 3149
Telephone: (03) 9562 8033
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Directors’ Declaration

The directors declare that:

a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with Accounting Standards;

b) The attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the
company and the consolidated entity;

c) In the directors' opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001; and

d) In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

M. J. Findlay
Director

17 June 2004
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES LIMITED

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows,
accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for both Programmed Maintenance Services Limited
(the company) and the consolidated entity, for the financial year ended 31 March 2004 as set out on pages 28 to 67. The consolidated
entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal
controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent
in the financial report.

Audit approach
We have conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the
company. Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance
whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of
professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal controls, and the availability of persuasive rather than
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001 and Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia so
as to present a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position,
and performance as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows.

Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial
report, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and
extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and
the Corporations Act 2001.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2004 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

JAN WEST
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Date: 17 June 2004

The liability of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is limited by, and to the extent of, the Accountants’ Scheme under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).
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NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Ordinary Share Capital

68,800,123 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 2,877 individual shareholders. All ordinary shares of the Company carry one vote
per share.

Options

1,412,000 options are held by 26 individual option holders (no voting rights)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (ORDINARY SHARES - FULLY PAID)

Ordinary Shareholders Number of Ordinary Shares Percentage

Commonwealth Bank of Australia and associates 10,153,226 14.76%

ING Australia Holdings Limited and associates 6,257,865 9.10%

Invesco Australia Investment Management Limited 6,055,652 8.80%

Westpac Banking Corporation and associates 4,728,669 6.87%

Portfolio Partners Limited 4,166,260 6.06%

Warakirri Asset Management Limited 4,157,610 6.04%

Jenkins Investment Management Pty. Ltd. 3,508,384 5.10%

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES (ORDINARY SHARES - FULLY PAID)

Range No. of Holders

1 - 1,000 761

1,001 - 5,000 1,380

5,001 - 10,000 463

10,001 - 100,000 231

100,001 - over 42

2,877

Number of holdings less than a marketable parcel: 0



THE TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES (ORDINARY SHARES - FULLY PAID) 

Name No. of Shares Percentages

J.P.Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 13,284,535 19.31%

National Nominees Limited 9,492,585 13.80%

ANZ Nominees Limited 4,622,265 6.72%

Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited - (CFS Developing Companies A/c) 4,536,504 6.59%

Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited - (CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c) 4,469,630 6.50%

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 3,771,788 5.48%

Australian Foundation Investment Co. Ltd. 1,362,543 1.98%

Mirrabooka Investments Limited 1,208,232 1.76%

Cogent Nominees Pty. Ltd. (SMP A/c) 1,201,562 1.75%

Maxwell John Findlay 1,006,675 1.46%

RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty. Limited – (PP A/c) 936,584 1.36%

Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited 912,136 1.33%

Government Superannuation Office (State Super Fund A/c) 853,936 1.24%

Argo Investments Limited 774,930 1.13%

Victorian Workcover Authority 756,995 1.10%

AMP Life Limited 716,730 1.04%

Questor Financial Services Limited 712,634 1.04%

Benefund Limited 489,312 0.71%

Cogent Nominees Pty. Ltd. (SMP A/c) 445,279 0.65%

Tower Managed Funds Limited (Tower Pool Aus Shares A/c) 326,956 0.48%

Top 20 Shareholders 51,881,811 75.43%

Additional Stock Exchange Information
as at 26 May 2004
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2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EARNINGS SUMMARY *
Revenue from Ordinary Activities

Aust - Property Maintenance Services 88,373 99,703 107,744 124,378 139,492 
- Industrial Services 14,312 14,599 14,802 16,898 18,802 

New Zealand 18,444 18,804 20,374 26,002 29,060 
United Kingdom -   13,167 16,403 17,835 18,513 

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities 121,129 146,273 159,323 185,113 205,867 

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation
Amortisation (EBITDA) 23,459 25,608 28,250 30,216 33,380 

Depreciation & Amortisation (5,284) (5,751) (6,512) (6,618) (6,789)

Earnings before Interest and Taxes (EBIT)
Aust - Property Maintenance Services 12,516 13,459 14,255 14,635 16,627 

- Industrial Services 439 801 352 480 1,335 
New Zealand 5,220 5,211 6,496 7,807 8,475 
United Kingdom -   386 635 676 154 

Total Earnings before Interest and Taxes 18,175 19,857 21,738 23,598 26,591 

Net Interest Expense (2,603) (3,111) (3,221) (3,144) (2,566)

Profit before Income Tax Expense 15,572 16,746 18,517 20,454 24,025 
Income Tax Expense (5,453) (5,534) (6,030) (6,547) (7,734)

Profit after Income Tax Expense 10,119 11,212 12,487 13,907 16,291 

Basic Earnings per Share - cents 15.7 17.4 19.4 21.2 23.9

Dividends Interim - cents per share -   5.0 4.0 4.0 5.5 
Final - cents per share 5.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 6.5 

Dividends per share - cents 5.0 9.0 8.0 9.0 12.0 

Dividend payout ratio 32% 52% 41% 42% 50%
Dividend franking 50% 81% 0% 41% 50%

EBIT/ Revenue 15.0% 13.6% 13.6% 12.7% 12.9%
Return on Equity 27.5% 19.3% 19.4% 19.4% 18.6%
Interest Cover - times 7.0 6.4 6.7 6.5 10.4 
Average Tax rate 35.0% 33.0% 32.6% 32.0% 32.2%
Growth in Profit after Income Tax Expense 19.9% 10.8% 11.4% 11.4% 17.1%

ASSETS & LIABILITIES

Cash 2,713 1,248 2,343 2,920 2,059 
Debtors 21,220 29,574 33,279 34,039 38,947 
Contract Recoverables 89,902 104,207 116,884 126,579 131,342 
Work in Progress 1,410 1,435 1,711 12,970 19,350 
Property Plant & Equipment 18,847 19,464 19,463 19,029 20,802 
Other Assets 7,499 9,656 10,180 10,527 10,889 

TOTAL ASSETS 141,591 165,584 183,860 206,064 223,389 

Payables 9,403 12,338 12,181 17,136 23,362 
Interest-bearing liabilities 35,641 48,957 55,793 49,872 43,797 
Provisions 7,442 6,795 7,351 8,893 6,434 
Current tax liabilities 1,272 511 1,045 424 2,845 
Non-current tax liabilities 29,696 32,461 35,720 41,994 44,344 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 83,454 101,062 112,090 118,319 120,782 

TOTAL EQUITY 58,137 64,522 71,770 87,745 102,607 

OTHER FINANCIAL STATISTICS

Number of shares on issue at Year End (millions) 64.5 64.5 64.5 67.1 68.8 
Net Tangible Assets per Share $0.90 $0.96 $1.07 $1.27 $1.41 
Net Debt to Equity 57% 74% 74% 54% 41%
Net Debt to Recoverables & WIP 37% 46% 46% 37% 32%

Gross Operating Cashflows ($'000) 9,016 8,937 10,200 18,535 21,521 

Share Price at 31 March $1.65 $1.72 $2.33 $1.74 $2.60

* - Items in the Earnings Summary are shown on a consistent basis, and have been adjusted for "one-off" items.
- The consolidated entity's financial year ends 31 March
- The results for the year ended 31 March 2000 are for the full year, notwithstanding that the Company listed on 1 October 1999

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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PMS Branch Network

Telephone
Group Head Office

52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley 3149 (03) 9562 8033

Principal Offices

Victoria 26-30 Gilby Road, Mount Waverley 3149 (03) 9544 5777

Tasmania 8 Pearl Street, Moonah 7009 (03) 6272 3033

New South Wales Unit C, 255 Rawson Street, Auburn 2144 (02) 9748 7088

South Australia 604 Port Road, Allenby Gardens 5009 (08) 8346 9944

ACT Unit 2, 180 Gladstone Street, Fyshwick 2609 (02) 6280 5677

Queensland 1119 Boundary Road, Wacol 4076 (07) 3271 3885

Western Australia 107 Kew Street, Welshpool 6106 (08) 9361 8322

Northern Territory Unit 2, Lot 4 Roni Court, Winnellie 0820 (08) 8947 0192

New Zealand 44 Greenpark Road, Penrose, Auckland +64 9 571 0610
5 Prosser Street, Elsdon, Porirua, Wellington +64 4 237 4810
Unit 2/492 Moorhouse Avenue, Christchurch +64 3 365 2357

United Kingdom Daybrook House, Merchant Street, Bulwell, +(44) 1159 770 311
Nottingham NG6 8GT

Nottingham
Darwin

Perth

Brisbane

Sydney

Melbourne

Wellington

Christchurch
Hobart

Adelaide
Auckland

Preston
Manchester

Liverpool

Bristol

Bunbury
Hindmarsh Mildura

Shepparton
Ballarat

Geelong

Launceston

Invercargill

Nelson

Palmerston North
New Plymouth

Hamilton

Canberra

Orange

Tamworth

Kalgoorlie

Cairns

Townsville

Mackay

Rockhampton

Gold Coast

Lismore

Port Macquarie

Sunshine Coast

Wyoming
Newcastle

Wollongong

Albury

Dunedin

Napier

Rotorua

Bay of Plenty

Whangarei

Morwell

Birmingham
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Our Vision
To be acknowledged as a leading international property
maintenance services group.

Our Mission
To constantly improve our services to customers by designing
superior systems and processes through the contribution of 
ideas into the knowledge base of the organisation.

Our Customers

To identify and satisfy the needs of our customers by providing
cost–effective property maintenance services where safety and
quality are achieved through a commitment to excellence.

Our People

To recognise individual and team success by providing 
both reward and career development within a safe 
working environment.

Our Communities

To operate in an environmentally responsible manner 
and support our local communities by providing regional
employment, training and apprenticeship opportunities.

Our Shareholders

To grow and develop the company’s business in a responsible,
ethical and profitable manner, thereby maximising our
shareholder value.

Corporate Directory
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

ABN 61 054 742 264

Board of Directors
G. A. Tomlinson, Chairman
M. J. Findlay, Managing Director
S. M. Oliver
B. J. Pollock

Secretary
I. H. Jones

Auditors
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
505 Bourke Street
Melbourne 3000

Solicitors
Middletons Lawyers
200 Queen Street
Melbourne 3000

Banker
Westpac Banking Corporation
360 Collins Street
Melbourne 3000

Registered Office
and Principal Administrative office
52 Ricketts Road
Mount Waverley 3149
Telephone (03) 9562 8033
Facsimile (03) 9562 8413

Share Register
Computershare Investor 
Services Pty. Limited
452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford 3067
Telephone (03) 9415 4000
Investor Enquiries 1300 850 505

Stock Exchange Listing
Australian Stock Exchange
530 Collins Street
Melbourne 3000

Internet Website
www.pmsltd.com.au

Email
marketing@pmsltd.com.au

Management Team
Max Findlay, Managing Director

Ian Jones, General Manager, Finance & Administration

Ian Craig, Group General Manager, Operations

Rowan Galbraith, Chief Executive, United Kingdom

Nigel Caigou, General Manager, New Zealand

Bryan Horskins, General Manager, Retail & Corporate Imaging

Paul Warman, General Manager, Northern Region

Ron Gladman, General Manager, Southern Region

Mark Piwkowski, General Manager, Building Services

Denis Groves, General Manager, Business Development

Danny Shafar, General Manager, Marketing

David Maple, General Manager, Industrial Services

Mark Collins, Manager, Grounds Management

Jim Sherlock, Manager, Human Resources



Maintenance painting
programmes tailored to
suit your needs

Interior & exterior
painting projects

Specialised finishes &
graffiti removal

Difficult access projects

Specialised surface
protection

School holiday and out
of hours projects

Sign writing & signage
installation

National corporate 
re-imaging projects

Arboricultural planning 
& maintenance

Grounds management
planning

Lawn care & garden
maintenance

Landscape & design
services

Herbicide programmes 
& applications

Irrigation control 
& water budgeting

Seasonal support services

Sewerage & drainage
maintenance

Drain maintenance &
management systems

Automated high 
pressure cleaning

Closed circuit television

Non destructive digging

Vacuum loading

Hydro demolition

Property condition audits 
& surveys

Programmed cyclical
maintenance

Trade-based maintenance
services

24/7 national help desk

Essential services, OH&S,
& compliance audits

Project management


